SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE ESTATE OF EDWARD HENRY CLARK, by and through GAYLE SHOTTS, Personal Representative,

Petitioner,

CASE NO: SC08-1774 D.C.A. CASE NO.:2D07-2635 L.T.C. NO.: 53-2005CA000421

v.

OP WINTER HAVEN, INC.; RE WINTER HAVEN, INC.; TANDEM REGIONAL MANAGEMENT OF FLORIDA, INC.; TANDEM HEALTH CARE, INC.; GAIL WARD a/k/a GAIL LURIE WARD; NANCY C. THOMPSON; MICHAEL BRADLEY; and IRENA BLACKBURN a/k/a IRENA TARRAN BLACKBURN (as to TANDEM HEALTH CARE OF WINTER HAVEN),

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case presents an issue of statewide concern impacting a protected class of persons, namely, elderly, nursing home residents. The issues concern, first, whether a nursing home resident's personal, constitutional rights can be waived by an individual, without legal authority, who signs an arbitration agreement attached to a nursing home admission agreement; second, whether it is for the courts in the first instance, or for the arbitrator, to decide the enforceability of the arbitration agreement when the issue of whether the agreement is void as violative of the public policy of this state has been raised as an avoidance defense to the arbitration provision; and third, whether unenforceable arbitration provisions which defeat remedial remedies and violate public policy are severable.

The resolution of these issues by a panel of the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant case is in express and direct conflict with the decisions of this Court and the other districts on these points.

Petitioner, the Estate of Edward Henry Clark, by and through Gayle Shotts, Personal Representative, shall be referred to herein as "the Estate." The Estate's decedent shall be referred to as "Mr. Clark.," and Mr. Clark's niece and Personal Representative, shall be referred to as "Ms. Shotts." The Respondents, OP Winter Haven, Inc., RE Winter Haven, Inc., Tandem Regional Management of Florida, Inc., Tandem Health Care, Inc., Gail Ward a/k/a Gail Lurie Ward, Nancy C.

Thompson, Michael Bradley, and Irena Blackburn a/k/a Irena Tarran Blackburn shall be collectively referenced as "Tandem."

References to certain documents contained in the Record before this Court shall be followed by citations to the Index to the Record on Appeal as follows: "(R. Vol. __, pp.___)." However, the vast majority of Record references in Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts refer to documents contained within the Appendix to Appellant's Initial Brief filed in the Second District. According to the Index to the Record on Appeal, the Appendix documents are indexed in Volumes I through III, thereby spanning all three volumes of the Record. However, the Clerk of the Second District did not indicate in the Index which numbered Appendix documents are contained within each of the three Record Volumes. Nor did the Clerk assign page numbers to each of the numbered documents in the Appendix. Petitioner is therefore unable to accurately cite to the particular Record Volume that contains each such Appendix document. Accordingly, all references in this Initial Brief to the tabbed and numbered documents contained within the Appendix to Appellant's Initial Brief before the Second District shall be cited as follows:

"(R. Vols. I-III, A_, p. ___)."

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

By Order of this Court dated February 24, 2009, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this matter for discretionary review of the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeals in *Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc.,* 988 So.2d 639 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008), *rehearing denied* August 11, 2008. (R. Vol. III, pp. 125-133). The Florida Constitution grants this Court discretionary jurisdiction to review a district court decision that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court. Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980). The Estate seeks further review of the decision based on the Second District's express and direct conflict with *Blankfeld v. Richmond Health Care, Inc.,* 902 So.2d 296 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

Moreover, the Second District misapplied the decisional law of this Court and other districts. Misapplication of decisional law serves as the basis for conflict jurisdiction. *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So.2d 84, 87 (Fla. 2005) (misapplication of decisional law of Supreme Court is basis for conflict jurisdiction); *Spivey v. Battaglia*, 258 So.2d 815, 816 (Fla. 1972) (misapplication of decisional law of another district is basis for conflict jurisdiction).

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of fact relating to the *Shotts* Panel's determination of the absence of procedural unconscionability is reviewed based upon the competent, substantial evidence standard. *Bay County v. Town of Cedar Grove*, 992 So.2d 164 (Fla. 2008). The *Shotts* Panel's conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo. Id.* The Court's interpretation of contracts, including the arbitration agreement and the power of attorney instrument, is reviewed *de novo. U.S. Fire Insur. Co. v.*

J.S.U.B., Inc., 979 So.2d 871 (Fla. 2007). Statutory interpretation is a question of law and is reviewed *de novo*. *Continental Cas. Co. v. Ryan Inc. Eastern*, 974 So.2d 368 (Fla. 2008).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Clark was admitted to Tandem Health Care of Winter Haven, a Florida nursing home, on May 23, 2003, and remained there until his death on November 23, 2003. (R. Vols. I-III, A 1, p. 2). Mr. Clark had been involved in a serious automobile accident in 1977 and among other debillatating injuries, he suffered from organic brain syndrome and required 24 hour care. (R. Vol. III, p.126, R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 14). "He couldn't fully bathe himself. He couldn't somebody had to be there to give him his medicine because he couldn't selfmedicate because he would forget or take too many or take not enough." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, pp. 16-17). In 1987, Mr. Clark moved to the home of his niece, Ms. Shotts, in New Jersey so that she could provide him with care. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 15). In 1989, he moved with Ms. Shotts and her family to Florida. *Id*.

According to Ms. Shotts' testimony, Mr. Clark had been declared incompetent by a court in New Jersey in 1981. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, pp. 23-24). His assets were placed in an irrevocable trust. Notwithstanding his adjudication of legal incompetence seven (7) years earlier, Ms. Shotts was requested in 1988 by the attorneys retained for the automobile accident to have Mr. Clark execute a

power of attorney, designating Ms. Shotts as her uncle's attorney in fact. (R. Vol. I-III, A 6, p. 17). The power of attorney ("POA") was signed by Mr. Clark in the State of New Jersey, and the document was witnessed by *only one (1) witness-* the attorney who prepared the POA. (R. Vols. I-III, A 2, p. 1).

Ms. Shotts first placed Mr. Clark in a nursing home called Meadowview Life Center. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 29). Ms. Shotts had concerns with about the poor care that Mr. Clark had received at Meadowview and notified the facility that she desired to move Mr. Clark to Tandem. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 31).

At all times between the accident and throughout his residency at Tandem, Mr. Clark was incapable of making decisions for himself. (R. Vol. I-III, A 6, pp. 23-24). Accordingly, Ms. Shotts admitted her uncle into the facility, and signed the admission documents purportedly as Mr. Clark's attorney-in-fact. Ms. Shotts had no legal training, and was a housewife with a tenth (10th) grade education. (R. Vol. I-III, A 6, pp. 6-7, 8, 30, 55, R. Vol. III, p. 127). On the morning of the admission, Mr. Clark had been discharged from Meadowview, had his things packed, and was waiting to be picked up, while Ms. Shotts completed the admission procedures at Tandem. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 31).

Ms. Shotts did not meet with the Director of Admissions at that time, whom she had met on prior occasions when touring the facility. Rather, she received the admissions paperwork to be filled out, and reviewed it with one person from the

facility present—a girl working in a corner of the room on a computer. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 39). Ms. Shotts was asked if she "knew anything about arbitration." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 48). She answered, "no." (R. Vols. A 6, p. 48). No one from the facility sat down with Ms. Shotts to explain the terms and conditions of the agreements she was asked to sign. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 57). The Admissions Director, Michele Clark, was not present when Ms. Shotts reviewed and signed the paperwork. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, pp. 25-26). The Admissions Coordinator, Agatha Avril, was present when Ms. Shotts signed the paperwork, but she had only a vague recollection of the process. (R. Vols. I-III, A 7, pp. 69, 101). Ms. Avril had no specific recollection of Ms. Shotts signing the agreement, and she responded to repeated questions regarding execution of the documents by simply concluding that because a signature and initials appear on the documents, and "because she was there," that Ms. Shotts must have signed it. (R. Vols. I-III, A 7, pp. 99-101). She did not recall that Ms. Shotts daughter and granddaughter were with her during the admission process. (R. Vols. I-III, A 7, p.100). She had no recollection of Ms. Shotts crying or being upset during the admission process. (R. Vols. I-III, A 7, p. 92-93).

Ms. Shotts testified that when reviewing the arbitration agreement, she felt that "I didn't have a choice that day because all the times that I had talked to [a facility representative] and everything and we discussed everything about this

facility, this was never—the arbitration thing was never brought up until the day I was there filling out the paper and my uncle was sitting at Meadowview waiting to come." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 37). Ms. Shotts believed that "if I didn't fill out all the papers and sign them, then he would have nowhere to go." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 37).

Ms. Shotts could not explain the difference between mediation and arbitration. (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 56). Ms. Shotts explained her understanding of the arbitration provision as "that by signing it and putting my uncle in that nursing home, that we were not releasing them from responsibility, because you wouldn't do that, especially coming from the nursing home that he was, it was just that it had to be brought in certain increments before it goes to court of to a trial." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 38).

Ms. Shotts described her emotional state the morning of admission as she was "upset and nervous." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 43). "I guess I could say I was in tears or almost in tears...I had seen [my uncle] that morning, and he did not want to stay there, he wanted to go home with me, but I couldn't take him home with a broken hip, a leg brace, and a wheelchair." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 58).

She recalls asking the facility representative who was in the office as she reviewed the documents whether "if we don't fill this out, he can't come here, and she said everything had to be filled out. And I was like, he couldn't come here, and

he's ready, and she said, she kept repeating the same thing, everything has to be filled out and signed." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 43).

This feeling of compulsion permeated Ms. Shotts' thoughts as she filled out the admission packet. Her understanding of the arbitration agreement was that "if we wanted him to go to Tandem, I had to sign it." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 44). "To me that's saying if I don't sign this, because this facility requests it, then I have to find another one." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 47).

Ms. Shotts was specifically asked if she was "under duress to sign these documents." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 54). Once she was explained what "duress" meant, she responded, "If I didn't sign these papers, my uncle would not have a place to go that night. He was already discharged from Meadowview, and everything else was settled with Tandem and waiting his arrival and his room was set and everything pending these papers. So if I didn't sign this paper, I was taking him home that night. Because there was no way I could find another facility in the same workday and go through the same thing that took me a week to do to set this one up in a matter of hours." (R. Vols. I-III, A 6, p. 54).

The arbitration agreement provides that it will be conducted in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules. (R. Vols. I-III, A 3, p. 10). The agreement also

expressly eliminates the availability of punitive damages. (R. Vols. I-III, A 3, p. 11).

While Mr. Clark resided at the facility, Tandem failed to act reasonably in his care by failing to prevent unexplained weight loss, by failing to prevent him from falls and injuries from those falls, by failing to properly assess and appropriately treat physical, mental and emotional problems, by failing to provide a safe environment, by failing to prevent delays in the provision of care, and by failing to provide consistent and appropriate documentation. (R. Vols. I-III, A 1, p. 5). As a consequence, Mr. Clark suffered multiple falls with injuries and weight loss. (R. Vols. I-III, A 1, p. 5).

The Estate filed a Complaint on January 27, 2005 against Tandem seeking damages for negligence, nursing home residents' rights violations, wrongful death, and breach of fiduciary duty. (R. Vols. I-III, A 1, p. 1). Tandem responded by filing a Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 25, 2005. (R. Vols. I-III, A 4, p. 1). The Estate filed a Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration on March 3, 2005. (R. Vols. I-III, A 5, p. 1). Thereafter, a hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration was held on April 10, 2007 before the Honorable Susan W. Roberts. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, p. 1). At the hearing, the Estate argued as an initial matter that there were problems with the power of attorney, including an insufficient number of witnesses, if the instrument

were construed under Florida law. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, pp. 83-84). The Estate therefore maintained that Ms. Shotts did not have the authority to sign the arbitration agreement on behalf of her uncle. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, p. 85). The Estate asserted that the POA was not valid or enforceable in Florida, as it was signed seven years after Mr. Clark had been adjudicated legally incompetent, and because it was witnessed by only one (1) witness, whereas Florida law requires that two (2) witnesses must sign the POA as having witnessed the principal's signature. The Estate further argued that assuming arguendo that Ms. Shotts had the authority to sign the arbitration agreement, the arbitration agreement was not valid and enforceable because it violates public policy and is procedurally as well as substantively unconscionable. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, pp. 84-85). The Estate argued that the arbitration agreement violates public policy because the agreement alters the benefits conferred by a remedial statute by incorporating the American Health Lawyers' Association ("AHLA") rules which involve a heightened burden of proof, and because the agreement purports to eliminate punitive damages altogether. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, pp. 37-47).

Tandem responded that there was a signed arbitration agreement and that it was entered into voluntarily. (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, p. 55). Tandem argued that any deficiencies in the power of attorney were cured on account of the fact that Ms. Shotts was the third party beneficiary of the arbitration agreement. In Tandem's

words, "in the *Linton* case the court ruled that even when there was no power of attorney, that a third party beneficiary would be able to bind the resident." (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, p. 89). Tandem further maintained that even though the agreement eliminates the statutory remedy of punitive damages, that "according to the Second DCA that's okay." (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, p. 58). Lastly, Tandem maintained that "procedurally the agreement is fair." (R. Vols. I-III, A 8, p. 95).

The court found that the arbitration agreement was "enforceable, not severable and not repugnant to the public policy of the State of Florida." (R. Vols. I-III, A 9, p. 1). The court further found that the AHLA rules will govern in arbitration (R. Vols. I-III, A 9, p. 2). Accordingly, the trial court entered an Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. Vol. I, pp. 4-5, R. Vol. III, A 9, p. 1).

The Estate timely appealed the order, (R. Vol. I, pp.1-5), asserting (i) that the POA was invalid because it was executed by Mr. Clark after his adjudication of legal incompetence and because it contained the signature of only one (1) witness rather than the two (2) witnesses as required by Florida law; (ii) that the arbitration agreement was unenforceable because it was procedurally and substantively unconscionable, (iii) that the arbitration agreement contained limitations which were void as against public policy because they defeated rights under a remedial statute and changed the burden of proof to clear and convincing evidence because

arbitration was to be conducted in accordance with AHLA rules; and (iv) that the offending arbitration clauses were integral to the agreement and went to its essence, and therefore were incapable of being severed.(R. Vol. I, pp. 12-49).

Tandem asserted (i) that the POA was valid, (ii) that Ms. Shotts signed the arbitration agreement as attorney-in-fact, (iii) that the record was insufficient to support a finding of unconscionability, and (iv) that the repugnant clauses could be severed from the agreement, but that the arbitrator, rather than the court, should have been the one to rule on the public policy issue and to sever the clauses. (R. Vol. III, pp. 56-71).

The Second District held that the trial court properly found that there was no procedural unconscionability. The Panel stated that because a showing of *both* procedural and substantive unconscionability is required to support a finding of unconscionability, the Court did not need to analyze the issue of substantive unconscionability. (R. Vol. III, p. 129).The Court failed to resolve the issue of whether the offending arbitration provisions were void as against public policy, instead deferring resolution of the matter to the arbitrators. "[I]f the arbitrators find any portion of the arbitration clause to be unenforceable or invalid, the arbitrators will have the ability to sever the improper provisions from the remaining provisions and enforce the remainder of the agreement according to its terms."(R. Vol. III, p. 134).

With regard to the Estate's issue regarding the invalidity (or at least the lack of enforceability in Florida) of the POA due to Mr. Clark's legal incapacity and the fact that the POA contained only one (1) witness signature and was therefore violative of section 708.02 of the Florida Statutes, the Panel rejected the Estate's argument and opined, in a footnote, that "[a]lthough Ms. Shotts argued that the power of attorney was invalid, *she failed to meet her burden*." (R. Vol. III, p. 128). *(emphasis added)*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The *Shotts* decision is in direct and express conflict with decisions from this Court and the other district courts on the issue of which party bears the burden of proving authority under a POA, and the issue of how a POA is to be interpreted and enforced. The decision is in direct and express conflict with decisions from other districts on the issue of whether a Court in the first instance should decide enforceability issues under the first prong of *Continental Cas. Co. v. Ryan Inc. Eastern*, 974 So.2d 368 (Fla. 2008).

, or whether the arbitrator should decide that issue, and whether provisions which violate public policy should be severed. These multiple conflicts justify resolution by this Court's exercise of discretionary jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SHOTTS DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE OTHER DISTRICTS ON THE ISSUE OF AUTHORITY UNDER THE POA.

The *Shotts* decision is in direct and express conflict with a decision from this Court on the issue of which party has the burden of proving the agent's authority. The *Shotts* Panel rejected the Estate's challenge to Ms. Shotts' lack of authority under the POA, by opining that "[a]lthough Ms. Shotts argued that the power of attorney was invalid, she failed to meet her burden." (R. Vol. III, p. 128). (emphasis added). In Foye Tie & Timber Co. v. Jackson, 97 So. 517 (Fla. 1923), this Court held that "when a plaintiff in a civil action seeks to recover upon a contract alleged by him to have been made with the defendant through the latter's agent, the burden of proof is upon the [person relying on the agent's authority] to show the authority of the agent for making the contract." In the instant case, Tandem asserted that Ms. Shotts had authority to bind her uncle to arbitration because she signed the agreement as an attorney-in-fact under a POA. Tandem filed the POA with the court as evidence of Ms. Shotts' authority.

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