SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE ESTATE OF EDWARD HENRY CLARK, by and through GAYLE SHOTTS, Personal Representative,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: SC08-1774

D.C.A.CASE NO.: 2D07-2635

L.T.C. CASE NO.: 53-2005CA000421

v.

OP WINTER HAVEN, INC.;
RE WINTER HAVEN, INC.;
TANDEM REGIONAL MANAGEMENT
OF FLORIDA, INC.; TANDEM HEALTH
CARE, INC.; GAIL WARD a/k/a GAIL LURIE
WARD; NANCY C. THOMPSON; MICHAEL
BRADLEY; and IRENA BLACKBURN a/k/a
IRENA TARRAN BLACKBURN (as to
TANDEM HEALTH CARE OF WINTER HAVEN),

Respondents.		

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

MANCUSO AND DIAS. P.A.

5102 W. Laurel Street, Suite 700 Tampa Florida, 33607

Daniel E. Dias, Esquire

Florida Bar No. 0099030

Antonio A. Cifuentes, Esquire

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

II. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY INTERPRETED THE AUTHORITY GRANTED BY THE POWER OF ATTORNEY

Petitioner blatantly misrepresents that the authority granted by the subject power of attorney was narrowly "limited to real estate and tangible property." (Initial Brief, p.20; R.Vol. I-III, A. 2, p. 21-28). As the agent of Mr. Clark, Ms. Shotts was given very broad powers, such as to conduct financial transactions on his behalf, including borrowing money "on whatever terms and conditions deemed advisible"; to make loans and invest in his name; to vote at shareholder meetings; to continue the operation of any business he may have owned; to address state, local and federal tax issues; and to make and substitute agent(s) under her for all the purposes described within the power of attorney. (R. Vols. I-III, A. 2, p. 21-28). Ms. Shotts was given authority "[t]o employ lawyers, investment counsel, accountants, physicians and other persons for me or my estate…" (R. Vols. I-III, A. 2, p. 24).

Paragraph 13 of the subject power of attorney authorizes Ms. Shotts

[t]o commence, prosecute, discontinue or defend all actions or other legal proceedings pertaining to me or my estate or any part thereof; to settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration any debt, demand or other right or matter due me or concerning my estate as you, in your sole discretion, shall deem best and for such purpose to execute and deliver such releases, discharges or other instruments as you may deem necessary and advisable. (Emphasis added.) (R. Vols. I-III, A. 2, p.23-24).

Paragraph 20 of the power of attorney allowed Ms. Shotts

[t]o authorize my admission to a medical, nursing, residential or similar facility and **to enter into agreements for my care**; and to authorize, arrange for, consent to, waive and terminate any and all medical surgical procedures on my behalf, including the administration of drugs or to withhold such consent. (Emphasis added.) (R. Vols. I-III, A.2, p. 25).

The power of attorney itself contradicts Petitioner's argument that Ms. Shotts was not authorized to waive the rights of Mr. Clark to punitive damages or jury trial.³ Ms. Shotts was specifically authorized to submit to arbitration any demand or other right due to Mr. Clark as Ms. Shotts, in her sole discretion, deemed best and for such a purpose, she was authorized to deliver such release, discharges or other instruments that she deemed necessary and advisable. (R. Vols. I-III, A. 2, p. 23-24). It also gave her the authority to admit Mr. Clark to a nursing facility and to enter into agreements for his care. There is substantial record evidence to support a finding that Ms. Shotts had complete authority and discretion to execute and deliver any instrument she deemed necessary and advisable. The record also reflects that Ms. Shotts knowingly acted upon this authority by signing the arbitration agreement, thereby agreeing to the terms and conditions contained therein.

³ The Complaint did not include a claim for punitive damages and Petitioner has yet to file a motion pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.190(f) seeking to amend the Complaint. As such, for purposes of this appeal, any argument regarding possible waiver of punitive damages is premature and therefore not ripe.

Over a course of years, Ms. Shotts worked with attorneys in relation to Mr. Clark and days prior to May 23, 2003, she had retained counsel on his behalf. She was familiar with legal documents and could access legal counsel regarding any of the documents if she desired. According to the record, Ms. Shotts was in contact with legal counsel at Wilkes & McHugh between May 23, 2003 and June 27, 2003 whereas on June 27, 2003, she signed a HIPAA Compliant Medical Authorization authorizing Tandem to disclose to counsel all protected health information regarding Mr. Clark to Wilkes & McHugh. (R. Vols. I-III, A.6, p.47).

Ms. Shotts testified that she chose to not seek advice of counsel regarding the arbitration agreement and that she chose to not rescind/revoke her agreement to submit to arbitration within the thirty (30) day revocation period. The record confirms that the power of attorney that granted Ms. Shotts the discretion to release medical records to counsel, also granted her the authority to waive the right to jury trial and submit to arbitration. (R. Vols. I-III, A.2, p. 23-24).

Petitioner cites several black letter rules of law to support the argument that arbitration provisions bind only the parties thereto. (Initial Brief, p. 21). In Regency Island Dunes, Inc. v. Foley and Associates Construction Company, Inc., 697 So. 2d 217, 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), the trial court ruled that the parent corporation of one of the parties to the arbitration agreement was bound by the agreement as an alter ego. The Fourth District Court ruled that one that did not

agree, expressly or implicitly, to be bound by an arbitration agreement could not be compelled to arbitrate and reversed the lower court. <u>Id</u>. at 218. The Fourth District Court explained that the ruling of the trial court was based on the theory that the parent corporation was an alter ego of the subsidiary corporation that had signed the agreement and that even assuming that the alter ego could be compelled to arbitrate, there was no record evidence to support the trial court's finding that the parent was an alter ego of the subsidiary. <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Karlen v. Gulf & Western Industries, Inc.</u>, 336 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), Karlen attempted to initiate a second arbitration proceeding. Appellees sued to enjoin the proceedings to all but one appellee for alleged claims that arose subsequent to the termination of the initial arbitration. <u>Id.</u> at 462. The Third District Court held that a personal covenant to arbitrate did not bind successor parties in interest without written evidence of such an undertaking and affirmed the lower court's ruling.

In <u>Global Travel Marketing</u>, Inc. v. Shea, 908 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2005), a mother signed a commercial travel contract, on behalf of herself and her minor son, for an African safari. During the trip, the minor was dragged from his tent by hyenas and mauled to death. <u>Id.</u> at 395. The father filed a wrongful death suit on behalf of the estate and for both parents as survivors; in response, the travel company moved to stay the proceedings and compel arbitration. <u>Id.</u> The father

argued that the mother did not have legal authority to contract away the son's substantive rights through a release of liability and arbitration clauses. <u>Id.</u> The issue regarding waiver of liability was not presented to the trial court, the court ruled that the estate was bound by the arbitration provision and entered the staying proceedings and compelling arbitration. <u>Id.</u> The Fourth District Court ruled that the arbitration agreement was unenforceable as to the child on public policy grounds and that the child's estate could not be bound to arbitrate, and reversed the lower court.

The narrow issue before the Florida Supreme Court was whether a parent's agreement in a commercial travel contract to binding arbitration on behalf of a minor child with respect to prospective tort claims arising in the course of such travel is enforceable as to the minor. Global Travel Marketing, Inc., 908 at 394. The competing interests for the court's consideration were the interest of the state, as *parens patriae*, to protect children and that of parents in raising their children. Id. at 398. The court ruled that parents have the authority to determine what activities are appropriate for their children and thus may agree in advance to arbitrate a resulting tort claim if the risks of the activities are realized. Id. at 404. The decision of the Fourth District was quashed and the case remanded. Id. at 405.

The case at bar can be distinguished from all of the above cases. Unlike in Regency Island Dunes, Inc. v. Foley and Associates Construction Company, Inc.,

697 So. 2d 217(Fla. 4th DCA 1997), in which there was no evidence that the nonparty parent corporation agreed to be bound by the arbitration agreement and there was no record evidence that the parent corporation was an "alter ego" corporation for purposes of binding that entity to an arbitration agreement signed by the actual parties, in the case before the Court, neither party is seeking to compel a nonparty to participate and be bound by an arbitration agreement not agreed upon. The record evidence substantiates that Ms. Shotts exercised her authority to enter into the Arbitration Agreement and having done so, should be bound to that agreement.

Unlike the case of <u>Karlen v. Gulf & Western Industries, Inc.</u>, 336 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), this case does not involve successor parties in interest, but rather only involves Ms. Shotts exercising the discretion and authority granted to her under the power of attorney to execute documents waiving litigation in favor of seeking resolution of claims via arbitration.

Further, this case can also be distinguished from Global Travel Marketing,
Inc. v. Shea, 908 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2005) since in this case, there are no conflicting
interests between the state and Ms. Shotts related to protecting the interests of Mr.
Clark. The similarity between this case and Global is that the mother of the minor
child in Global was determined to have the authority to agree, in advance, to
arbitrate claims that would result from participating in risky activities. Here, the

record evidence before this Court supports the contention that Mr. Clark intended to grant Ms. Shotts the specific authority as outlined in the power of attorney.

In support of the argument that Ms. Shotts lacked authority to agree to arbitration, Petitioner's reliance upon <u>Blankfeld v. Richmond Health Care, Inc.</u>, 902 So.2d 296 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) is mistaken. In <u>Blankfeld</u>, the son, as proxy, signed his mother's readmission agreement. Three days prior to her readmission, the mother had purported to sign a power of attorney, appointing her son as attorney-in-fact. <u>Id.</u> at 299. According to physicians' notes in the record, the mother had been determined to be incompetent years earlier due to senile dementia. Id. at 300.

The son did not advise the facility that he had been given power of attorney, but the trial court ruled that the power of attorney authorized the son to bind the mother to arbitration. <u>Id.</u> The Fourth District Court determined that with no evidence that the mother's incompetency had changed, the trial court improperly relied upon the power of attorney. <u>Blankfeld</u> at 300. The court also concluded that as proxy, the son was limited by statute and could only make health care decisions on behalf of his mother. <u>Id.</u> The purpose of a proxy is to consent to health care services that the patient would likely choose if able to do so. <u>Id.</u> The statute does not reflect legislative intent to authorize a proxy to contract for things not strictly related to health care. Id. at 301.

In this case, Ms. Shotts was not a health care proxy nor did she present this alternate theory to the trial court. The power of attorney presented by Ms. Shotts specifically authorized her to conduct other activities beyond the scope of health care issues, including submit to arbitration if she determined it would be in the interest of Mr. Clark. The authority granted Ms. Shotts by the power of attorney exceeds the statutory authority of a health care proxy.

Ms. Shotts indicated on the Admission paperwork that she was the Responsible Party and she was acting as Power of Attorney. (R. Vols. I-III, A.3, p. 36-37). For the Binding Arbitration Agreement, there are two (2) signature pages signed by Ms. Shotts. (R. Vols. I-III, A.5. p. 44, 45). The first page states "THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGE THAT EACH OF THEM HAS READ THIS ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDS THAT BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT EACH HAS WAIVED HIS/HER OR ITS RIGHTS TO A TRIAL, BEFORE A JUDGE AND/OR JURY, AND THAT EACH OF THEM VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO ALL OF THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT." (R. Vols. I-III, A.5, p.44).

The subsequent Acknowledgment page states that "Resident (as defined in this Agreement) acknowledges that Resident was advised of his/her right to seek legal advice concerning the execution of this Agreement, but knowingly and willingly chose not to consult with an attorney." (R. Vols. I-III, A. 5, p. 45). As

previously explained, the term "Resident" collectively refers to "Resident" or "Resident's Legal Representative" or "Resident's Designee." (R. Vols. I-III, A.5, p. 41.) Ms. Shotts signed both as power of attorney and she testified that she signed pursuant to the subject power of attorney. (R. Vols. I-III, A.5, p. 44, 45).

Petitioner has cited no legal authority to support the invalidation of the arbitration agreement. The record evidence reflects that Ms. Shotts was authorized to submit to arbitration and that she voluntarily and knowingly signed the agreement. She was aware that she had the right to seek advice from legal counsel and that she could rescind the agreement, in writing, within the thirty (30) day revocation period and she testified that she chose not to do either. Based upon the record evidence, Respondents respectfully request that the findings of the lower court be affirmed and that the Petitioner's brief be dismissed.

III. THERE IS NO CONFLICT REGARDING WHETHER THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WAS UNENFORCEABLE AS CONTRARY TO PUBLIC POLICY

If the Court determines that the power of attorney is valid, then respectfully, based upon the facts of this case, it cannot find that the Arbitration Agreement is unenforceable. If the Court determines that the subject power of attorney is invalid, thereby nullifying the Arbitration Agreement, then it follows that every legal contract, instrument, document, etc., signed by Ms. Shotts pursuant to the power of attorney, is also invalid.

Petitioner argues that the Arbitration Agreement violates public policy because the Agreement would preclude recovery of punitive damages. In order to seek punitive damages, Petitioner has to seek leave of court at the trial level by filing a motion seeking to amend the Complaint, and there must be an evidentiary hearing to determine Petitioner's entitlement to punitive damages. To be entitled, the trier of fact must find, by clear and convincing evidence, that Respondents were personally guilty of intentional misconduct or gross negligence. Fla. Stat. 768.72 (2003); Fla.R.Civ.P.1.90(f). Whereas Petitioner has yet to seek entitlement to punitive damages from the trial court, this cannot be an issue for which Petitioner now seeks appellate relief. Unless Petitioner requests punitive damages, is granted the right to seek them and then faces the possibility of being precluded

from the recovery of such, that issue is not ripe for purposes of appeal. It is not proper to raise on appeal an issue regarding a claim to which a party may or may not be entitled.

In <u>Shotts</u>, the Second District Court specifically addresses the issue of the application of AHLA rules to arbitration agreements. <u>Shotts</u>, at 643. The Second District Court considered the following language from the Agreement:

The arbitration shall be conducted as a place agreed upon by the parties, or in the absence of such agreement, in Winter Park, Florida, in accdordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration (unless otherwise modified herein) which are hereby incorporated into this agreement, and not by a lawsuit or resort to court process.

Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, the arbitration hearing shall be conducted before a panel of three arbitrators, (selected from the AHLA Procedures Panel), one chosen by each side in the dispute with the third to be chosen by the two arbitrators previously chosen...The arbitration hearing and other proceedings relative to the arbitration of the claim, including discovery, shall be conducted in accordance with the AHLA Procedures that do not conflict with the FAA. The parties agree that damages awarded, if any, in an arbitration conducted pursuant to this Binding Arbitration Agreement shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Florida law applicable to comparable civil action, except that the parties acknowledge that the arbitrators shall have no authority to award punitive damages or any other damages not measured by the prevailing party's actual damages, and the parties expressly waive their right to obtain such damages in arbitration or in any other forum. The arbitration panel shall have the authority to award equitable relief (i.e., relief other than monetary), should the arbitrators so decide. (R. Vols. I-III, A. 5, p. 41-42).

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